
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
Board of Directors 
 
Friday, August 4, 2017 
Following CAA Finance Committee Meeting 
Kent County Commission Chambers 
300 Monroe Avenue, NW, Grand Rapids, MI 
 
 
1. Call to Order          Steve Heacock  
 
2. Minutes of June 9 and June 21, 2017           Action 
 
3. Committee Reports 
  
 A. Operations Committee 
  i. Experience Grand Rapids Report 
 
 B. Finance Committee 
  i. Consolidated Financial Statement for Period Ending   Action 
   June 30, 2017 
  ii. SMG June 2017 Financial Statements –     Information 
   Van Andel Arena® and DeVos Place® 
 
4. SMG Report and Facilities Calendars         Rich MacKeigan 
 
5. Public Comment 
 
6. Adjournment  
 
 

Next Meeting Date:  Friday, October 6, 2017 
Following CAA Operations Committee 



MINUTES OF THE GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY  
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY 

JOINT MEETING OF 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS, FINANCE COMMITTEE 

AND OPERATIONS COMMITTEE 
Friday, June 9, 2017 

 
Attendance  

 
Members Present:  Steve Heacock, Chairperson 
   Rosalynn Bliss    
   Lew Chamberlin 
   Birgit Klohs 
   Charlie Secchia 
   Floyd Wilson, Jr. 
   Richard Winn 
    
Members Absent: None   
 
Finance Committee: Jill Ferris 
   Robert Herr 
   Jones 
   Jana Wallace 
 
Operations Committee: John Canepa 
   Glenn Del Vecchio 
   Al Jano 
   Darius Quinn 
   John Van Fossen 
 
Community Inclusion Minnie Morey 
Group:   Angela Nelson 
   Evette Pittman 
   Ruben Ramos 
   Eddie Rucker 
 
Staff/Others:  Kathy Bart   SMG 
   Tom Bennett   Experience Grand Rapids 
   Megan Distel   Broadway Grand Rapids 
   Russ Hines   104.9 Radio Station 
   Andy Kursch   SMG 
   Mike Lloyd   Broadway Grand Rapids 
   Chris Machuta   SMG 
   Rich MacKeigan  SMG 
   Peter Perez   Grand Rapids Symphony 
   Ed Spillers (Lee Stephens) 104.9 Radio Station 
   Hilarie Szarowicz  SMG 
   Eddie Tadlock   SMG 
   Brad Thomas   Progressive AE 
   John Van Houten  Progressive AE 
   Susan Waddell   CAA 
   Jim Watt   Interested Private Citizen 
   Richard Wendt   Dickinson Wright 
   Robert White   CAA 



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting  
June 9, 2017 – 2 

    
 
1. Call to Order 
 
Steve Heacock, Chairperson, called the meeting to order at 7:45 a.m.  Secretary/Treasurer Richard Winn 
recorded the meeting minutes.  Chair Heacock added agenda item 5.B.vi., establish longevity incentive 
plan for executive director.   
 
2. Welcome & Introduction of New Committee Members 
 
Al Jano, Kent County Facilities Director, has joined the CAA Operations Committee and Mary Swanson,  
Assistant County Administrator, has joined the CAA Finance Committee.  They replace Daryl Delabbio, 
who served on both committees and is retiring at the end of the month.   
 
3. Minutes of Prior Meeting 
 
Motion by Mr. Wilson, support by Mr. Winn, to approve the May 19, 2017, Minutes.  Motion carried. 
 
4. CIG Update 
 
Darius Quinn, Kent County Human Resource Manager, is chair of the CAA’s Community Inclusion 
Group (CIG).  Mr. Quinn started his presentation by introducing Russ Hines and Ed Spillers of Magic 
104.9, Grand Rapids’ R&B and old school radio station.  Mr. Hines thanked the CIG for its partnership 
and support.  Mr. Spillers stated that 104.9 is in the top 6 radio stations for its target: women 35-54, and is 
number 3 on the weekends.  Due to its increasing popularity, the radio station switched from an AM 
frequency to FM.  Last October, the station raised power from 88 watts to 250 watts.  Chair Heacock 
extended congratulations on the radio station’s success.  
 
The CIG was created to guide the CAA in establishing a visible commitment to diversity.  CIG priorities 
include: i) increase awareness and access to the CAA venues; ii) attract top level talent; iii) support 
supplier diversity; and iv) staff investment.  Engaging in multi-cultural markets provides positive 
financial benefits to the CAA, allows retention and attraction of talent to West Michigan, and enhances 
our ability to maintain a competitive edge above other venues, while resulting in a better quality of life for 
all.  This past year, the CIG entered into partnership with ShowSpan to reach more diverse audiences for 
its public shows, launched a comprehensive Hispanic outreach marketing campaign, offered diverse 
programming at the venues, and increased outreach in the Asian-American communities.  Mr. Quinn 
played a video of the year in review.  The video will be uploaded to various social media platforms.   
 
During the upcoming year, the CIG will focus attention on the millennials, focus on diversity in existing 
events, expand diversity of SMG staff and subcontractors, explore an African-American entertainment 
series, continue to collaborate with existing partners, and support Experience Grand Rapids in its efforts 
to attract more meetings and conventions to Grand Rapids.  Mr. Quinn thanked the CAA for its courage, 
support, and leadership and SMG for doing the “heavy lifting.” 
 
Chair Heacock asked how the CIG was increasing awareness and access.  Mr. Quinn responded that 
Magic 104.9 conducts interviews with CIG members every two weeks, the CIG hosted a media day, and 
CIG members talk about diversity in the venues on a day-to-day basis.  Chair Heacock asked if there was 
a sense that the buildings feel more accessible.  Based on feedback and attending shows, Mr. Quinn 
responded affirmatively.  Joe Jones added that measure is hard to quantify.  People are more open to 
access to the venues and appreciate the effort.  Chair Heacock asked if people are comfortable going to 
amenities, such as restaurants and bars.  Both Mr. Jones and Mr. Quinn both felt that there is a sense that 
amenities belong to the entire community.  Ms. Wallace added that a survey conducted by the City 
revealed that people didn’t think downtown was for them but, once here, they felt welcomed.  Chair 
Heacock stated that consistency matters; gaining momentum and getting to outcomes.  



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting  
June 9, 2017 – 3 
 
 
5. Committee Reports 
 
 A. Operations Committee 
 

i. Experience Grand Rapids Report 
 
Mr. Bennett provided an overview of the CVB’s recent sales activities, marketing efforts, and major bid 
presentations.  Mr. Bennett reviewed the Smith Travel Research numbers for April 2017.  April was slow 
due to Easter and spring break.  Three groups were booked for DeVos Place® that will bring 5,700 
attendees to town for 4,500 room nights.  The CVB hosted seven site visits and the Customer Advisory 
Board meeting.  Mr. MacKeigan shared details of the potential new hotel with the CAB.  Staff attended 
trade shows, sales missions, and one-on-one meetings.   
 
  ii. State of the Live Touring Industry 
 
Mr. MacKeigan presented an update on the state of the live entertainment industry and added that it 
would be worthwhile, in the future, to have presentations on the ticketing and security industries, as well.  
For the past three years, concert activity at Van Andel Arena has accounted for 16%, 22%, and 25% of 
the event load, yet 44%, 58%, and 60% of annual revenue, respectively.  In addition, both the number of 
concerts and attendance have grown.  Artists are relying on touring revenues generated from ticket and 
merchandise sales due to the decline in recorded music sales.  Live music dollars continue to grow despite 
increases in ticket prices.  Social media is growing artists’ global presence, making it easier for tours to 
play all over the world.  Older rock still dominates ticket sales charts.  Country music acts continue to 
perform well, also.  We have strong relationships with promoters and the importance of those cannot be 
overstated.  The top 100 promoters worldwide, according to Pollstar, include promoters that we do 
business with on a daily basis, including Live Nation (#1), AEG Live (#2), Feld Entertainment (#4), 
Premier Productions (#11), and many more.   
 
Technology changes have changed the live event experience.  The Wi-Fi and DAS system at the Arena 
facilitate increased connectivity for patrons during events.  The Arena mobile app allows patrons to 
receive special offers and notifications, access venue and event information, report issues during the 
event, and more.  Social media advances change the way patrons and acts experience events (e.g., 
Snapchat Spectacles that allow sports players to film warm-ups from their point of view).  Increased 
integration of tour mobile apps and social media allow on-site, day-of-show event promotions and 
upgrades (e.g., Monster Jam offers upgrades to ticket holders through their mobile app, such as video 
board messages and trace access).  Ticketmaster is able to identify box office purchasers and captures 
their data.  Ticketmaster matches the purchasers with their profiles and add them to our e-mail blast 
database, and we can include these patrons in marketing campaigns.  Ticketmaster has added 36,565 new 
customers in the Grand Rapids database since the beginning of the program in May 2016.  Internet 
sourced touring artists have sold out two shows at the performance hall.  These artists did not use 
traditional media and are able to break from country to country very quickly.   
 
The live touring industry will continue to grow.  Millennials are proving to be experientially driven.  
Artists from overseas will increase their North American exposure and touring.  Technology will continue 
to be a focal point.  Consolidation will likely continue.  Emphasis will be on well-capitalized and trusted 
partners.  Threats and obstacles to our success include (i) industry awareness and responsiveness (ability 
to invest in the venue smartly and forge relationships strategically; (ii) terrorism; (iii) data protection; (iv) 
economic turndown; and (v) non-CAA controlled venue (we need to be aware and open to possible 
partnerships should new opportunities arise).  Ms. Klohs asked who was consolidating.  Mr. MacKeigan 
responded that promoters, agents, and management companies.  We have been very smart in forming  
 
 



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting  
June 9, 2017 – 4 
 
 
 
strong relationships across the board.  Regarding threats of another entity, Chair Heacock asked if there 
was anything specific and the impact of 20 Monroe on CAA venues.  Mr. MacKeigan stated that the CAA  
may need to revisit the amphitheater idea.  Also, there has been talk of a soccer stadium, which would 
need to be a multi-purpose building.  20 Monroe may hurt the theater a little, but we don’t have the dates 
and we are not set up as a club.  That said, the more people downtown the better.  Chair Heacock thanked 
Rich for his comprehensive and informative presentation.   
  
 B. Finance Committee 
 
  i. Acceptance of April 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Mr. White reviewed the year-to-date financial dashboard for the period ended April 30, 2017.  At the 
Arena, 22 concerts generated $2,150,936 in event revenue, an increase of +33.8% from prior year (20 
concerts) of $1,607,970.  Net proceeds of $2,297,229 increased by +63.2% from prior year of $1,407,848.  
DeVos Place® convention/trade show business generated $1,612,753 in event revenue, a decrease of 
(14.2%) from prior year (attendance decreased from 111,636 to 102,346) of $1,880,362.  Net proceeds of 
$918,812 decreased by (15.1%) from prior year proceeds of $1,082,650.   
 
Motion:  Mr. Winn, supported by Ms. Klohs, moved to accept the April 2017 Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  Motion carried. 

 
  ii. April Consolidated Financial Statements Proposed New Format 
 
Mr. White explained that the new format would eliminate duplication and reduce the report from 12 pages 
to six pages.  The new report will take effect with the May 2017 consolidated financial statements.   
 
  iii. SMG April 2017 Van Andel Arena® and DeVos Place®  
   Financial Statements 
 
The SMG financial statements were included in the agenda packet as information items.   
 
  iv. Financial and Bookkeeping Policy Amendment 
 
Mr. White recommended an update to the financial and bookkeeping policy to remedy an inconsistency 
that occurred when three separate financial reports were consolidated into one set of statements. 
 
Motion:  Mr. Winn, supported by Mr. Herr, moved to approve the Financial and Bookkeeping Policy 
Amendment.  Motion carried. 

 
  v. Resolution approving and Authorizing Execution of a Parking 
   Operating Agreement with the City of Grand Rapids 
 
The DeVos Place® parking operation agreement expires June 30, 2017, and Mr. White recommended 
approval of a new Agreement.   
 
Motion:  Mr. Winn, supported by Ms. Klohs, moved to approve the Parking Operation Agreement, as 
presented.  Motion carried. 

 
 
 
 



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting  
June 9, 2017 – 5 
 
 
6. Establishment of Longevity Incentive Plan for Executive Director 
 
Chair Heacock noted that the CAA’s tremendous success is due to many factors, an important one of 
which is its relationship with SMG and Rich MacKeigan.  Mr. Heacock reminded the Board of the 
national recognition that Mr. MacKeigan has received during the year for his building management and 
booking capabilities and successes.  He also noted that the Additional Services (see below) required by 
the CAA of MacKeigan are likely to increase in the coming years.   
 
To encourage him to remain engaged with the CAA, the CAA desires to provide MacKeigan with a 
longevity incentive plan, a program of deferred compensation under an unfunded ineligible nonqualified 
deferred compensation plan subject to Sections 409A and 457(f) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
 
The CAA and SMG have entered into a Management Agreement dated as of July 1, 2011, as amended by 
a First Amendment to Management Agreement dated as of November 15, 2013, and a Second 
Amendment to Management Agreement dated as of December 4, 2015 (collectively, the “Management 
Agreement”) providing for SMG to provide management services to the CAA for the Van Andel Arena 
and DeVos Place Convention Center including the Steelcase Ballroom and DeVos Performance Hall 
(collectively, the “CAA Facilities”).  MacKeigan, as an SMG employee, currently serves, and has for the 
past 18 years served, as the General Manager of the CAA Facilities.  Pursuant to a First Addendum to 
Management Agreement dated as of July 1, 2011 (the “First Addendum”), between the CAA and SMG, 
the CAA and SMG have agreed that SMG will provide additional services outside and beyond the scope 
of services provided in the Management Agreement as identified in Attachment A to the First 
Amendment (the “Additional Services”).  The Additional Services are required to be performed by 
MacKeigan in accordance with the terms of the First Addendum.  The CAA pays SMG additional 
compensation, in addition to that provided for in the Management Agreement, for performance of the 
Additional Services which additional compensation less customary withholdings SMG is required to pay 
to MacKeigan.   
 
The CAA desires to provide an incentive to MacKeigan to continue as General Manager of the CAA 
Facilities and to continue to perform the Additional Services for at least five years.   The CAA intends to 
provide the incentive by crediting MacKeigan an annual amount the CAA board establishes for each full 
year of service for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 through June 30, 2021 (each 12-month period 
beginning on a July 1 and ending on a June 30th being a “Plan Year” or the “CCA Fiscal Year”, and the 
collective year period being the “Plan Years”).  The accumulated amount would be paid to MacKeigan on 
June 30, 2022, if MacKeigan is then serving as the CAA General Manager or as otherwise provided in the 
Plan.    
 
Motion:  Mr. Winn, supported by Ms. Wallace, moved to establish the Grand Rapids-Kent County 
Convention/Arena Authority 2017 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan (the "Plan"), as described 
above, effective as of the date of execution and further moved that the Chair be given authority on behalf 
of the CAA to enter into such detailed agreements as are required to effectuate this resolution.  After 
discussion, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
7. FY 2018 Budgets  
  

A. Approval of Consolidated CAA Budgets 
  
On May 19th, the CAA Finance Committee reviewed a preliminary draft of the consolidated Fiscal Year 
2018 budget request.  It had forecast “estimated” revenues totaling $14,317,733 with an operating/capital  
 
 
 



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting  
June 9, 2017 – 6 
 
 
 
budget request of $16,296,581.  The estimated draw on fund balance amounted to $1,978,848.  The 
budget recommendation remains unchanged from the May 19th presentation.   
 
In the interim, the Fiscal Year 2017 full-year estimate has been amended in the following manner: 
 
FY 2017 Estimate: 
 
● Table A - Increase SMG revenues by +$183,745. 
 
Mr. Machuta stated that the DeVos Place® and Van Andel Arena® operating/capital budgets remain 
unchanged from last month. 
 
Motion by Mr. Winn, support by Ms. Wallace, to approve (1) the FY 2018 SMG – DeVos Place® and Van 
Andel Arena® operating budgets; (2) the FY 2018 SMG capital budget; and the (3) the FY 2018 
Consolidated Operating/Capital Budget.  Motion carried. 
 
8. Approval of FY 2018-FY 2022 DeVos Place® Rate Sheets 
 
Motion by Ms. Klohs, support by Ms. Bliss, to re-approve the FY 2018-FY2021 DeVos Place® rate sheets 
and approve the FY 2022 DeVos Place® rate sheets.  Motion Carried.   
 
9. Monroe Street Activity Study Recommendation 
 
Last month, presented a report on the activation of the Monroe Avenue meeting rooms. The report 
identified a hotel as a viable option for the site and recommended a full market analysis be done to 
confirm the viability.  The question of a convention center expansion study also came up, there could be 
value in having this study and the hotel study performed concurrently by the same firm.  The two studies 
would be separate, stand-alone work products.  Mr. MacKeigan recommended that (i) the CAA allocate 
$125,000 for consulting services in the FY 2018 budget to cover the hotel study, as well as a portion of a 
convention center expansion study; (ii) the CAA approve the development of a scope of services 
document, as well as identification of potential firms that could perform the work; and (iii) the CAA 
approve Richard MacKeigan to pursue the option of combining the Monroe hotel study with the 
convention center expansion study.  The CAA would also like to include an Arena hotel study to the 
RFP/RFQ.   
 
Motion by Mr. Winn, support by Mr. Wilson, to (i) allocate $125,000 for consulting services in the FY 
2018 budget to cover hotel studies for Monroe Avenue and the Van Andel Arena®, as well as a portion 
of a convention center expansion study; (ii) approve the development of a scope of services document, as  
well as identification of potential firms that could perform the work; (iii) approve Richard MacKeigan to 
pursue the option of combining the Monroe  hotel study with the convention center expansion study.   

Motion Carried.   
 
10. SMG Report and Facilities Calendars 
 
Mr. MacKeigan summarized the event calendars for the venues.   
 

11. Public Comment 
 

Mike Lloyd of Broadway Grand Rapids asked that the CAA revisit expansion of the women’s restrooms 
in DeVos Performance Hall. 
 



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting  
June 9, 2017 – 7 
 
 
 
 
Peter Perez of the Grand Rapids Symphony announced that the League of American Orchestras awarded 
Diane McElfish Helle with the Ford Musician Award for Excellence in Community Service. 
 
12. Adjournment 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:28 a.m.   
 

     ______________________________________   
Richard A. Winn, Recording Secretary 
 
 
 
 

The next CAA meeting:  Friday, August 4, 2017 
Following the CAA Finance Committee Meeting 

 
 



MINUTES OF THE GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY  
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL MEETING 
Wednesday, June 21, 2017 

 
1. Call to Order  
 
Steven Heacock, Chairperson, called the meeting to order at 4:35 p.m.  Richard Winn, 
Secretary/Treasurer, recorded the meeting minutes.  Chair Heacock explained that the special meeting 
was called because CAA Board action was necessary to be taken on the listed agenda item before the end 
of the fiscal year, which is June 30, 2017.   

 
Attendance  

 
Members Present:  Steve Heacock, Chair 
   Lew Chamberlin 
   Birgit Klohs 
   Charlie Secchia 
   Floyd Wilson, Jr. 
   Richard Winn 
Members Absent: Rosalynn Bliss 
Staff/Others:  Jim Harger   MLive/The Grand Rapids Press 
   Susan Waddell   CAA 
    

2. Approve 2017 Contribution to the Executive Director Longevity Incentive Plan 
 
The Chairperson noted that the CAA and its venues have consistently performed above both expectations 
and comparable venues due to excellent management attributable to SMG, Rich MacKeigan and his 
team.   
 
The CAA has achieved astounding success at the Van Andel Arena® for the past 18 years.  Concerts 
drive the bottom line for the Arena.  Booking concerts and acts rely heavily on relationships.  To the 
CAA’s benefit, Rich has developed valuable relationships over the years that directly result in more and 
better business for the Arena.   
 
Like most convention centers, DeVos Place® convention center was constructed with the expectation 
that it would be a loss leader to spark economic growth downtown.  Contrary to expectations, the venue 
has performed well economically and achieved break even or better most years (when including parking 
revenues).  This too is attributable to Rich and his team.   
 
Others have noticed Rich’s great work.  This past year, Rich received the Venues Today prestigious “Hall 
of Headlines” award, as well as a Top Arena Manager by Billboard Magazine.  We are proud of Rich’s 
recognition and recognize that the CAA is in an enviable position.   
 
The next 5 years of the CAA are anticipated to be very important and will likely include continued 
growth, challenges to the concert business, and hotel and possible expansion construction projects.  The 
board believes that continuity in management is vital for the CAA’s success.  Consequently, at the 
CAA’s meeting held June 9, the Board approved a nonqualified deferred compensation plan, which 
provides Rich an incentive to stay with the CAA by offering him the chance to earn a lump sum payment 
that would be paid at the end of his next 5 years of employment.    



Convention/Arena Authority Special Meeting  
June 21, 2017 – 2 

 
The Chairperson asked that the Board take action on (i) the amount to be allocated to the nonqualified 
deferred compensation plan account for FY 2017 and (ii) the actual funding of the benefit established 
under the nonqualified compensation plan.   
 
2017 Allocation to the nonqualified deferred compensation plan account 
 
Under the SMG management contract, the CAA pays SMG, who in turn pays Rich, for CAA-specific 
additional services.  The Chairperson noted that by adding an incentive of a similar amount ($40,000 
annually) through the nonqualified deferred compensation plan, the CAA board will have done what it 
can to assure the desired continuity of management.   
 
To assure that Rich’s total compensation is reasonable, as compared to market, the Chairperson consulted 
with Jennifer Lynne Kwech, Human Capital – Actuarial, Rewards & Analytics, Deloitte Consulting LLP 
of Chicago.  Ms. Kwech provided material that supports the board’s conclusion that Rich’s total 
compensation, including the contribution to the nonqualified deferred compensation plan, is reasonable  
 
The Chairperson noted that an alternative to the incentive plan for Rich would be to directly hire an 
executive director apart from Rich but the board does not believe that the CAA’s current needs justify the 
expense and disruption of that option.   
 
Motion: Ms. Klohs, supported by Mr. Wilson, moved to allocate $40,000 to the nonqualified deferred 
compensation plan account for fiscal year 2017.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
Funding of the benefit established under the nonqualified deferred compensation plan  
 
The next issue discussed was funding the nonqualified deferred compensation plan.  The CAA could 
fund the entire anticipated payment of $200,000, just the FY 2017 contribution of $40,000 or some other 
amount.  The CAA would place any such funding in trust and the trustee would have the responsibility to 
invest the funds.  The contribution would appear as a balance sheet entry only until vesting and payment 
and the contribution would not affect the SMG incentive fee.  Given the strength of the current CAA 
financial position, full funding could be made without harming the organization and would avoid 
concerns about funding in potentially lean years.   
 
Motion: Mr. Winn, supported by Mr. Secchia, moved to fund the nonqualified deferred compensation 
plan account in the amount of $200,000, upon execution of the Grand Rapids-Kent County 
Convention/Arena Authority 2017 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan and a trust agreement; 
provided, however, that Robert White, the CAA’s professional financial consultant, opines that the CAA 
is financially sound to fund the account in its entirety. 
 

3. Public Comment 
 

None. 
 

4. Adjournment 
 
There being no other business, the meeting adjourned at 5:05 p.m. 

 
 
    ______________________________________  

Richard A. Winn, Recording Secretary 
















































	Agenda.CAA
	Board of Directors
	Friday, August 4, 2017
	1. Call to Order          Steve Heacock
	2. Minutes of June 9 and June 21, 2017           Action


	June.2017
	JOINT MEETING OF
	BOARD OF DIRECTORS, FINANCE COMMITTEE
	AND OPERATIONS COMMITTEE
	Friday, June 9, 2017
	Attendance
	i. Acceptance of April 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements


	June.2017 Special Meeting
	BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL MEETING
	Wednesday, June 21, 2017
	Attendance


	June 2017
	SMG Financial Statement.June 2017

